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Modernization Heritage and Modern Archaeological Sites in Kanazawa University
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1 Introduction
Kanazawa University’s history began in 1862 with

the founding of a smallpox vaccination center known
as the Hikoso Vaccination Center, Kaga Domain (Kaga-
han Hikoso Shutosho). The 160-year period since
then has involved numerous precursors to the present
university. One such precursor was the Fourth Higher
School (Dai-Shi Koto Gakko), which lasted from 1894
to 1949 (it was first established in 1887 as the Fourth
Higher Middle School, Dai-Shi Kotocha Gakko).
Another is the Kanazawa Medical College (Kanazawa
Ika Daigaku), which lasted from 1923 to 1949. These
precursor institutions were relocated in many instances.
Takaramachi Campus, which has never been relocated
since 1905, retains within its grounds valuable
Modernization Heritage and Modern Archaeological
Sites.

This article introduces the Modernization Heritage and
Modern Archaeological Sites on Kanazawa University’s
campuses, evaluates their value, and discusses the
prospects for conserving and utilizing them.

2 Kanazawa University’s Precursor Institutions
Before introducing the Modernization Heritage and

Modern Archaeological Sites on Kanazawa University’s
grounds, I shall outline the relocations of Kanazawa
University itself and its precursor institutions. For this,
I have prepared the map shown in Figure 1, using the
following sources:

Kanazawa Daigaku Igakubu Hyakunen Shi Hensha
linkai [Committee for Editing the Hundred-Year
Chronicle of the Kanazawa University School of Medical
Sciences], 1972;

Kanazawa Daigaku Gojinen Shi Hensan Iinkai
[Committee for Editing the Fifty-Year Chronicle of
Kanazawa University], 1999;

Kanazawa Daigaku Shiryokan, Kanazawa Daigaku
Fuzoku Toshokan [Kanazawa University Museum,
Kanazawa University Library], 2007;

Kanazawa Daigaku Shiryokan [Kanazawa University
Museum], 2011, 2012.
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EZ=MEM Hikoso Vaccination Center

IRILEART  Utatsuyama Health-Care Center

£IREFHME  Kanazawa Medical Institute

2Rkt Kanazawa Hospital

EFF  Medical Center

EF#K  Medical School

AJINEREESH  Ishikawa Prefectural First Grade Medical School
FMEEPFRESFE  Fourth Higher Middle School Department of Medicine
FMEEFRESFE  Fourth Higher School Department of Medicine
SREFHEMFK Kanazawa Professional School of Medicine
{58 Science School

AJINEERIEET  Ishikawa Prefectural Kanazawa Hospital

#1458 English and French School

P English School

ZAIEFIZE Unorthodox Specialist School

AINEERSFK  Ishikawa Shasei School

ZAIPZEE - ZRIFFIZE Unorthodox Middle and Specialist School
AJINEHZE  Ishikawa Middle School

ZAIZE - BIEBFT  Unorthodox School and Betsudensyijo School
ZAIPZEE - ZRIFFIZE Unorthodox Middle and Specialist School
ANEEMFK  Ishikawa Shasei School

BEERAT  Betsudensydjo School

AJINEEHFEZHE Ishikawa Normal School

RINEE—MEBPE - A)IIRXFEFR  Ishikawa First Normal School and Ishikawa
Women's Normal School

EBEFE Keimei School

FEEREFE Normal Middle School
AJINEHFZE  Ishikawa Prefectural College
BEMEEPFE Fourth Higher Middle School
FEMEEFE Fourth Higher School
£IRKS  Kanazawa University
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Figure 1. Key locations of Kanazawa University and its precursor institutions (school names overlaid to map tile from the Geospatial Information

R)IEE—EMEFE  Ishikawa First Normal School
REE—LFEEFH  Ishikawa Women's Normal School
F)IEEMESE  Ishikawa Normal School
RINESEEMEBEFE  Ishikawa Ordinary Normal School
HEMUEHEFRFR Fourth Higher Middle School
HEUEESFE Fourth Higher School

®IRKF  Kanazawa University

9 AJIRZFHHEZE Ishikawa Women's Normal School
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AINESEEMEBFE  Ishikawa Ordinary Normal School

AR EPEBSE LTI « [FBIFH  The Girls Section and Elementary School of the
Ishikawa (Prefectural) Normal School

EIRKZILIRF v > /82 Kanazawa University Hirosaka Campus

AJIREIREIT  Ishikawa Prefectural Kanazawa Hospital

SIREFHFFIFE Kanazawa Professional School of Medicine

SIRERKAS  Kanazawa Medical College

BIRKFERF v > /X2 Kanazawa University Takaramachi Campus

BIN(R) S - /FB/IE  The Ishikawa (Prefectural) Normal School and Elementary
School

SIRKFHAEF v > /X2 Kanazawa University Yayoi Campus

SRBEETESK  Kanazawa Higher Technical College

SIRTEHMFK  Kanazawa Industrial College

EIRKFNIIEF v > /8X  Kanazawa University Kodatsuno Campus
SREEMMESE Kanazawa Higher Normal School

R)IBEAIESE  Ishikawa Normal School for Youth

EIRKFHAF v > /82 Kanazawa University Jonai Campus
SIRABERBEMEFE  Kanazawa University Kanazawa Higher Normal School
MBS - mEFRK  Affiliated Middle School and High School
SIRKZBFAETF v > /¥Z  Kanazawa University Heiwa Campus
BIRKFHIFAF v > /82 Kanazawa University Higashi Kenroku Campus
SIRKFERAIF v > /82 Kanazawa University Tsuruma Campus

SIRAZAMF v > /82 Kanazawa University Kakuma Campus



Research Report

—75. 1873(W3ih 6 )4F I SR G - pREERE) 122 (L%
Bopis s & (K1 —®), DR TIIZELAR, &
AR, AINRER A, ZRIP R - 2RI
FRL AR ERD R < o

7o, IR - BRI R O Z OROBINFE
WEEDID o TAERTIZIE, 1873 (H3R 6 ) IT A I ZEAL -
BB ED> I ZRAIFER - ZAEMZER Bl
RERER, B REEER, Al RE— AR -
AR L FATH AR, EHER, hEm#EER. Al
RHM2ER, A)IIIRSEAHER I (K1 —@-®)s
LB, AR FEEARIE, 1875(BHIG 8 )AE DB~y
RCIRPAHRT DR SEARFE T 2 RNERIZ RS b v T e
(M1-©@

- 2/
~AX

(2) BENEFHPFR~SRKXFHEFH

1887 (BHIR20)4E, BIRKEDRIFK DR T b REW
LIFIET®H 2 BNEFEHAEMIAERT IR S s (K
1 -@)o ZaiE. ANIRFMZROBM - KE&EZH &
MNTZDDTH o7z, Fo, BEHNITD o 720 IR ST
HAERIX, 1889(BHIA22) EITIRIGE D OFI &R - &
R2MATEAMAD 1B D (K1 —). TLOEFT(X 1 —®)
b ENEEFREROBI &L 05, Dk, 1894(HHIAR2T)
FITIE, BUSFFERIBNSEERICUIRS N, F
YN=R7 = DO—2[UE(L I )L LTHEHE S
Lt 5,

BINESETE IR T 5 &, KT OR)IEREE
FRIZBUEHFFAREL L 45, ZNDBNEFF
WESE 70D 1901 (BHIG34) 4R 113 A Bl AR L T 4R
EREHMIAL & o T2, 1905(HAIE38) 4E 12 A ) I IR 410
BEAVINZEF (B - AT D (K1 —@). 1912(BHiA45)
IR 2 QBRI RINEEFEMAEIBIES 5, £2L T
BIREFHFEMZR - WBER & 7o 7ok, RENE1923CK
EID)FIVENLERRFAICHE L TARERDO—D, &R
ERRYE - FRBERE 5, Z0ERIEFK - BB
BEDORLE 1L, EZDMEHE & HICHIE S AT S s
. EIZER Al ALEOEXEDOFLE Lo TW 5,

Mz HREA LB S 235 D 1913CKIE 2 )FIT AR Ef
#IFIE (18984F A ) 1| [ S HE BT #2480 & TFR) D 55 FE A3
ARG  RE)IED (K1 —©), BLELRRD LTI
AR FEIEE AR L SR %, 1920CKIE 9) 41T,
BINEF LEAR UG (B - /DB ITRES 0D
(M1-B), Zhss, 1944(FBFI4EIZITEIR TEHR
EREL D, Tz, 1946(IEFI21) 4, BFHHET (B - B
BRI P 31 12 4B YR S5 T 3R 2 A (1944 4F B IR T 32 FR AN T
INFAEPNTERE) &) B AR 5 (19444F I T |
E)HPBERL T 2 (K1 —@),

- 2L
~RAX

2. (1) From when the Hikoso Vaccination Center Opened
until Just Before the Fourth Higher Middle School
Opened

Kanazawa University traces its history back to 1862,
when the Kaga Domain opened the Hikoso Vaccination
Center. The Hikoso Vaccination Center was located in
Hisoko 8-bancho, where the Hikoso Post Office now
stands (Map 1-1). In 1867, the Utatsuyama Health-Care
Center (Utatsuyama Yojojsho) opened, and the Hikoso
Vaccination Center was relocated there (Map 1-2). In
1870, Kanazawa Medical Institute (Kanazawa Igaku Kan)
opened in what was the residence of TSUDA Genba,
in Otemachi. The Utatsuyama Health-Care Center’s
medical facilities were then moved there (Map 1-3).
Over the following years, a series of other medical
facilities opened in the same area, forming a medical
cluster: the Kanazawa Hospital (Kanazawa Bydin), the
Medical Center (Igaku Sho), the Medical School (Igakko),
and Ishikawa Prefectural First Grade Medical School
(Ishikawa-ken Koshu Igakko). At one point in this
process, the Kanazawa Medical Institute’s physics and
chemistry section was established as a separate school:
the Science School (Rika Gakko: Map 1-4). The final
medical facility to open in this cluster was the Ishikawa
Prefectural Kanazawa Hospital (Ishikawa-ken Kanazawa
Byoin; Map 1-5). Thus, during the early years of Japan’s
Modern period, a medical hub formed in the erstwhile
residence of TSUDA Genba in Otemachi.

Meanwhile, a cluster of schools was forming in a
villa complex called Tatsumi Goten (now known as the
Seison-kaku) (Map 1-6). The process began in 1873,
with the opening of the English and French School
(Eifutsu Gakko). This school was joined by the English
School (Ei Gakko), the Unorthodox Specialist School
(Hensoku Senmon Gakko), the Ishikawa Shiasei School
(Ishikawa-ken Shuasei Gakko), the Unorthodox Middle
and Specialist School (Hensoku Chigakko, Hensoku
Senmon Gakko), and the Ishikawa Middle School
(Ishikawa-ken Chagakko).

Another cluster of schools formed in Sengoku-machi,
which was the location of the Kaga Domain’s official
domain academy, Meirindd, the academy’s martial-arts
hall, Keibukan, and later the location of the Kanazawa
Middle School (Kanazawa Chigakks). The clustering
began in 1873 with the opening of the Unorthodox
School and Betsudensytjo School (Hensoku Gakko
Betsudenshijo). The school was then joined by the
Unorthodox Middle and Specialist School (Hensoku
Chugakko, Hensoku Senmon Gakkd), the Shisei School
(Ishikawa-ken Shasei Gakko), the Ishikawa Normal
School (Ishikawa-ken Shihan Gakko), the Ishikawa
First Normal School and Ishikawa Women's Normal
School (Ishikawa-ken Dai-Ichi Shihan Gakko, Ishikawa-
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ken Joshi Shihan Gakko), the Keimei School (Keimei
Gakko), the Normal Middle School (Chigaku Shihan
Gakko), the Ishikawa Prefectural College (Ishikawa-ken
Senmon Gakké), and the Ishikawa Ordinary Normal
School (Ishikawa-ken Jinjé Shihan Gakké; Map 1-7,8).
Regarding the Ishikawa Women's Normal School, when
the school first opened in 1875, it was located in the
grounds of Matsubara Girls Elementary School (Koritsu
Matsubara-cho Joji Shogakko) in Nishicho (Figure 1-9).

2. (2) From the Opening of the Fourth Higher Middle
School to Just Before Kanazawa University Opened

The year 1887 saw the opening in Sengokumachi of
what was the most prominent of Kanazawa University’s
precursor institutions: the Fourth Higher Middle
School (Dai-Shi Koto Chiagakko; Figure 1-7). This
school inherited the site and buildings of the Ishikawa
Prefectural College. It also inherited the site of the
neighboring Ishikawa Ordinary Normal School (Figure
1-8) after said school was relocated, in 1889, to a new
building in Hirosaka-dori (the building is now the 21st
Century Museum of Contemporary Art, Kanazawa;
Figure 1-10). In 1894, the Fourth Higher Middle School
was renamed the Fourth Higher School (Dai-Shi Kété
Gakko). The school became a famous numbered (fourth)
school of the region.

After the Fourth Higher Middle School opened,
the Ishikawa Prefectural First Grade Medical School
in Otemachi merged with the school, creating the
Fourth Higher Middle School Department of Medicine
(Dai-Shi Koto Chiigakko Igaku-bu) and later (with a
change in the school’s name) the Fourth Higher School
Department of Medicine (Dai-Shi Koto Gakké Igaku-
bu). In 1901, the department was established as a
separate institution: the Kanazawa Professional School
of Medicine (Kanazawa Igaku Senmon Gakko). In 1905,
Ishikawa Prefectural Kanazawa Hospital, was relocated
to Kodatsuno, which is now Takaramachi (Figure 1-11).
In 1912, the Kanazawa Professional School of Medicine
was relocated to a site adjacent to the relocated hospital.
The school and hospital then became collectively known
as the Kanazawa Professional School of Medicine and
Affiliated Hospital (Kanazawa Igaku Senmon Gakko,
Fuzoku Iin). In 1923, the Kanazawa Professional School
of Medicine was upgraded to one of Japan’s six state
medical colleges, becoming the Kanazawa Medical
College; the pair thus became known as the Kanazawa
Medical College and Affiliated Hospital (Kanazawa Ika
Daigaku, Fuzoku lin). The university and its affiliated
hospital endured as a medical science hub of Kanazawa,
Ishikawa Prefecture, and the Hokuriku region as a
whole, leaving a legacy of medical tradition that endures
to this day.
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Figure 2. Map of Modernization Heritage in Takaramachi Campus

1 EFFEAEE Former Book Storage of the School of Medical Sciences

2 EZFEMEEIZARE Anatomical Specimen Storehouse of the School of Medical Sciences
3 EFIERIEEAME Pathological Specimen Storehouse of the School of Medical Sciences
4 EZFEEER - FIE  Brick Wall and Gateposts of the School of Medical Sciences

3 EFERETE

BWREE
Figure 3. Present-day photo of the Former Book Storage of the
School of Medical Sciences

A number of other notable developments occurred
during this period. In 1913, the boys section of the
Ishikawa Normal School (Ishikawa-ken Shihan Gakko:
the school’s name having changed from the Ishikawa
Ordinary Normal School in 1898) was relocated to
Nomura (now Yayoi) (Figure 1-12). In the following
year, the remaining girls section, located in Hirosaka,
was renamed the Ishikawa Women's Normal School
(Ishikawa-ken Joshi Shihan Gakko). In 1920, the
Kanazawa Higher Technical College (Kanazawa Koto
Kogyo Gakko) was opened in Sakiuramura (now
Kodatsuno; Figure 1-13). In 1944, the school became
the Kanazawa Industrial College (Kanazawa Kogyo
Senmon Gakko). In 1946, two institutions were relocated
to Nodamachi (now a military installation of the Japan
Self-Defense Forces): The first was the Kanazawa
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Figure 4. Present-day photo of the Anatomical Specimen
Storehouse of the School of Medical Sciences

Higher Normal School (Kanazawa Koto Shihan Gakko),
which had originally been established in 1944 in the site
of the Kanazawa Municipal Nakamuramachi Elementary
School. The second was the Ishikawa Normal School
for Youth (Ishikawa Seinen Shihan Gakké), which was
originally established in 1944 in Tsubata (Figure 1-14).

2. (3) From the Opening of Kanazawa University to Today

In 1949, Kanazawa University opened following
the promulgation of the Law for the Establishment of
National Schools (Kokuritsu Gakko Secchi Ho). The
buildings of the Fourth Higher School would serve as
the university’s Science Department (Rigaku-bu) until
1964, but the university’s main campus was located
in the site of the Kanazawa Castle and was thus
dubbed the Jonai Campus (the “campus in the castle
enclosure”; Figure 1-15). Meanwhile, the site of the
Ishikawa Normal School (Ishikawa Shihan Gakko: the
school’s name having changed from Ishikawa Prefectural
Normal School in 1943) became the location for the
Yayoi Campus (Figure 1-12) and Hirosaka Campus
(Figure 1-10) of the university’s Education Department
(Kyoikugaku-bu) and affiliated school, while the site of
the Kanazawa Industrial College became the location
for the university’s Kodatsuno Campus (Figure 1-13).
In 1950, Kanazawa Higher Normal School’s affiliated
schools were relocated to the premises adjacent to
Nodamachi and then to Heiwamachi due to a geographic
name change; the first of these affiliated schools was
the Affiliated Middle School (Fuzoku Chigakks), which
aligned with Japan’s pre-reformed education system,
while the second was the Affiliated High School
(Fuzoku Koto Gakko), which aligned with the reformed
education system (Figure 1-16). In 1953, the university’s
Education Department moved from Yayoi Campus to
Jonai Campus. In 1967, it gained another campus, the
Higashi (East) Kenroku Campus (Figure 1-17), situated
in the grounds of a school for special needs, then known
in Japanese as a “care school” (yogo gakks), now known
as a “Affiliated School for Special Needs Education”
(tokubetsu shien gakko) . In 1976, the site of Kanazawa
Prison became the Tsuruma Campus of the university’s
School of Allied Medical Sciences (Iryo Gijutsu Tanki
Daigaku-bu) (Figure 1-18).

In 1989, Kanazawa University started relocating
facilities on its Jonai Campus to its Kakuma Campus
(Figure 1-19). In 1995, the headquarters was relocated.
In the same year, the university-affiliated kindergarten
(Fuzoku Yochien), elementary school (Fuzoku
Shogakko), and junior-high school (Fuzoku Chigakkko)
were relocated to Heiwamachi. This was not the last
of the relocations: in 2005, the Faculty of Engineering
(Kogaku-bu) was relocated from Kodatsuno Campus to
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Figure 5. Present day photo of the Pathological Specimen
Storehouse of the School of Medical Sciences

Kakuma Campus.

The principal campuses of present-day Kanazawa
University, all of which follow the “college-school
system” (gakuiki gakurui sei), are as follows: Kakuma
Campus (Figure 1-19), Takaramachi Campus (Figure
1-11), Tsuruma Campus (Figure 1-18), Heiwamachi
Campus (Figure 1-16), and Higashi Kenroku Campus
(Figure 1-17). While most of these campuses were
created in the Showa era (1926-1989), Takaramachi
Campus boasts a much longer history, one that extends
back as far as the Meiji era (1868-1912). It is this
campus and its environs that contain the bulk of the
Modernization Heritage and Modern Archaeological
Sites.

3 Modernization Heritage in Kanazawa University
Now that the key facts about Kanazawa University

and its precursor institutes have been ascertained with
that admittedly lengthy preface, I shall now introduce
each item of Modernization Heritage that remains in
Kanazawa University. The structures, each of which
is situated in the southeast area of Takaramachi
Campus, are the School of Medical Sciences’ Former
Book Storage, its Anatomical Specimen Storehouse, its
Pathological Specimens Storehouse, and its Brick Wall
and Gateposts (Figure 2).

3. (1) Former Book Storage of the School of Medical
Sciences (Igaku-rui Kya Shoko)

Built in 1926, the Former Book Storage of the School
of Medical Sciences consists of a three-story reinforced-
steel structure (Figure 3). The structure was built during
the time of the Kanazawa Medical College (1923-1949),
and it originally served as a book storage of the college
library. It offered access to the library’s reading room via
a passage. A new medical library has since been built,
and the old library’s reading room and storage facilities
have been relocated there. However, the building was
preserved as a storehouse for materials used in medical
education.

The building forms a rectangular cuboid measuring
15.56 meters along its northeast-southwest axis and 9.15
meters along its northwest—southeast axis. At the four
corners stand bulky pilasters, and along the long and
short edges stand a number of thinner pilasters, forming
a recess on each of the four edges. The faces of each
corner pilaster feature a long vertical strip with a double-
groove outline. The tops of the pilasters feature vertical
strips with grooves, similar to triglyphs. Each story
has slender vertical windows with aluminum sashes. It
appears that they originally consisted of Belgian-made
wired glass set in a steel frame. The roof is generally
flat, but it also has gentle sloping toward both edges.



BPUERE Z ZIZBHERLTB L,

ZOEYE, A6VE — B EEA310.92m., ALH — BT
239.08m %1320 AMBIZEF R E R T 5, FEREICIE
WEBROR—F 23T 5, FREICH AL He
N5, POTUIY v v Z—TEAL T\ &5 TH 25,
SIEBEEDIZTT VI T Y va@ﬁtzzﬁﬁéhfu\éo
%Enm\%ﬁ&%%&¢ﬁ%’4aﬁfOE%
TWo, BBNTIZ IR - 2B E HITEERT, %F%
LT@E%%DNUTVéo%ﬂ%%@%ﬁi\AmE
MEHLOEETELTWS,

BUE ORI AR & L CHREL TV 720, WNERITIX
%E%@Fﬁmﬁ%ﬁ KBS, BATEO 71V —

REIRT 4 VLEPMPE SN TV D,

%ﬁ&bf@é@%tkﬁﬁﬂ?ﬁbf\ﬁ%ﬁwﬁ
EHLUTERLEYTH 205, BEDITHELHRL T
B, SER»rRELCOLSEFELHELTWS, 7T—VT
ADOWROHED TGS NI @Y LS s, =
T % ¥ > S 2125 2 IRERI R F R RO R LEE O
TiE, BIRD 2 & IFPR R L - e 0 RGO EY
T%é# RIEHAD DIREAREARE & LTV 5T

AREFEESEOUSERRGFETH B,

4) EFFREHF - FIE

EAESEEECHR - PIRE(X 2 —@) 13, 1912(BHIR45) 4E%
TOMEHEZAIEIMIETH B (X 6), TLLITER
EEEMED 2 OMITHEBIER T 212H7: D, BT
FL LD IR oNTDDEEZLND, EHT X ¥ %
AFEHEE O EHEIALE L, BEIXPIHE 2 R0 SRR A
144.46m, AtFE~63.54m, HEFESDEWHMET 2,

2AROMER, fEREOaE#E T, 46 - AL - &
A % B TE132.1Tm & 13 % FIRED REIRE18.40
miJal, BRBEAETH DD EEZ LN D,

6 EFEREE - FIE RASE
Figure 6. Present-day photo of the Brick Wall and Gateposts of
the School of Medical Sciences

The building has two ground-floor entrances, one at the
center of the northeast side and the other at the center
of the southwest side. The doorways have aluminum
sashes. The southwest doorway, which originally
connected to the library’s reading room, is topped with a
gabled porch, while the doorway on the opposite side is
topped with a short pent roof.

Viewed from the outside, this building, with its cuboid
structure, has a simple geometrical decoration, suggesting
the influence of the Viennese Secessionists and German
Expressionists. The interior is seemingly simple, but it
retains to this day fixtures and fittings of considerable
historical and cultural value. Each story features custom
bookshelves, and there is an small freight elevator (built
in 1926) for transporting books, which extends up the
three stories. The materials stored here are of historical
and cultural interest as well. With all of these features,
the building testifies to the modernization of medical
science in Takaramachi and to the history of medical
science at Kanazawa University.

3. (2) Anatomical Specimen Storehouse of the School
of Medical Sciences ([gaku-rui Kaibé Hyohon Ko)

The Anatomical Specimen Storehouse of the School
of Medical Sciences (Figure 2-2) consists of a single-
story reinforced-steel structure (Figure 4). Built in 1934,
the time of the Kanazawa Medical College (1923-1949),
the storehouse was intended to replace an aging timber
storehouse.

The building forms a rectangular cuboid measuring
22.48 meters along its northeast-southwest axis and
8.65 meters along its northwest—southeast axis. All four
walls have scratched tiling. Only the long-side walls
have windows; they have eight rectangular niches,
each housing a window. An entrance is located at the
southern end of the southeast side, while a loading dock
is located at the northern end of the same side. The
doorways and windows were all replaced by aluminum
sashes. The southwest plane by the entrance once had
an external stairway leading up to the roof (which
served as an outdoor badminton court). Traces of the
stairway remain.

The interior consists of a single wide space fitted
with neatly aligned cases. These cases were used to
store medical specimens and archaeological materials.
One item used to be stored here was a papier-maché
anatomical model made in France in 1857. Known in
Japan by the Dutch term kunst-ljjk (“artificial-corpse”),
the model is currently held and exhibited by the School
of Medicine Memorial Hall, Kanazawa University.
The ceiling has a board consisting of a wooden lattice
covered with textile. Used for ventilation, another ceiling
board features latticework depicting simplified flower
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Covered with scratched tiling and with its stark niched
windows, the edifice has a simple appearance suggesting
Secessionist and Expressionist influence. Moreover, for
many years the building contained numerous valuable
items dating back to the Taisho era. For these reasons,
the building remains valuable as an embodiment of
the modernization of medical science at the Kanazawa
Medical College.

3. (3) Pathological Specimen Storehouse of the School
of Medical Sciences (Igaku-rui Byori Hyéhon Ko)

The Pathological Specimen Storehouse of the School
of Medical Sciences (Figure 2-3) consists of a two-story
reinforced-steel structure (Figure 5) built in 1926 (the
15th year of the Taisho era). The building’s completion
date is cited as 1927 (the 2nd year of the Showa era)
in three sources: Kanazawa Ika Daigaku Ichiran [List
of Medical Colleges in Kanazawa] (Kanazawa Medical
College, 1927), Kanazawa Daigaku Igaku-bu Hyakunen
Shi [the Hundred-Year Chronicle of the Kanazawa
University School of Medical Sciences] (Committee for
Editing the Hundred-Year Chronicle of the Kanazawa
University School of Medical Sciences, 1972), and
Ishikawa-ken no Kindaika Isan [Modernization Heritage
in Ishikawa Prefecture] (Ishikawa Prefectural Board of
Education, 2008). However, the actual completion date
was November 21, 1926, given that the date is stated as
“Taisho 15, 11, 21”7 in a survey report held in Kanazawa
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Figure 7. The Takaramachi and Tsuruma Sites and areas that have been surveyed

FHT ¥ v > /XX =FHANLEH  Takaramachi Campus (Takaramachi Site)
BRIF v > /XX =#BRERF  Tsuruma Campus (Tsuruma Site)
BEEHAEX  Areas surveyed
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Figure 8. Takaramachi Site: Unearthed structural remains of the
hospital’s ophthalmology ward
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Figure 9. Takaramachi Site: Assemblage of tableware from the
hospital

University that is titled “Concerning the Submission of
Particulars on an Adjustment to the Size of a Building
on the Premises” (Shikichi Tatemono Zogen Ché Sho
Teishutsu no Ken) and dated October 26, 1913. Either
way, the building work clearly dates to the time of
the Kanazawa Medical College, but it is still worth
accurately noting the building completion date.

The exterior structure forms a rectangular cuboid
measuring 10.92 meters along its northwest—southeast
axis and 9.08 meters along its northeast-southwest axis.
The southeast plane has a gabled porch above a doorway
in the central space. This doorway once consisted of
a shutter, but along with the windows the shutter was
later replaced with an aluminum sash door. On all four
sides, four pilasters are arranged on the edges and four
more pilasters on the central sections. The long side
plane has windows on both stories. The windows have
brick frames. Another exterior feature is the artificially
polished slabs.

The building continues to serve as a storehouse for
pathological specimens. Hence, the interior features
numerous metal shelves containing vast number of
pathological specimens, known in Japan by the German
term Priparat, along with films for electron microscopy.

Although the exterior is generally simple—consisting
of artificially polished slabs with the protruding pilasters
being the only conspicuous feature—the brick window
frames add a decorative touch, suggesting that the
design was influenced by the Art Deco movement.
When viewed as part of Takaramachi Campus’s extant
Modernization Heritage from the Kanazawa Medical
College period, this building appears a little gentler
than the two buildings discussed above. Continuing to
serve the same role it served during the Taisho era,
the building acts as a valuable bridge between medical
science in the Modern period and medical science today.

3. (4) Brick Wall and Gateposts of the School of Medical
Sciences ([gaku-rui Rengabei, Monchi)

The tiled structure of the Brick Wall and Gateposts of
the School of Medical Sciences (Figure 2-4) comprises a
brick wall and an adjoining gatepost, both built in 1912
(Figure 6). It was likely intended to form a perimeter
around the new building for the relocated Kanazawa
Professional School of Medicine. Located at the front
of Takaramachi Campus’s southeast section, the extant
structure consists of a low brick wall running 144.46
meter southeast and 63.54 meters northwest from two
gateposts.

The gateposts are made from granite and stand 2.17
meters tall, including capstone, pier base, and foundation
stone. They are spaced wide apart from each other, at
8.40 meters, suggesting that they originally served as
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Figure 10. Tsuruma Site: Foundations of the five cellblocks
fanning out from a central control area
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flying buttresses.

The brick wall extending from both gateposts runs
in a straight line for a total length of 200 meters, but
the sections near the gateposts bend inward toward
the premises. The height of the wall varies slightly
in some sections but generally follows a consistent
structure: Forming the base of the wall are three tiers
of red andesite (possibly Red Tomuro stone) supporting
green tuff (possibly Shakudani stone) pavers. Above
this are seven rows of bricks arranged in an English
bond (alternate courses of bricks laid lengthwise and
widthwise). Above the brick masonry is a capstone with
washing finish of artificial stones.

Dating back to the time of the Kanazawa Professional
School of Medicine, the brick wall and gateposts stand
out as particularly old among the extant Modernization
Heritage in Takaramachi Campus. Although some
sections were lost during successive renovation work,
the structure remains valuable as the earliest structure
built when the site became the location of the Kanazawa
Professional School of Medicine and its affiliated
hospital. It is thus the very embodiment of the history of
medical science at Kanazawa University.

As the above examples illustrate, Kanazawa
University’s Takaramachi Campus retains Modernization
Heritage in excellent condition, some dating back to the
time when the university was known as the Kanazawa
Professional School of Medicine and some to the time
when it was known as the Kanazawa Medical College.
Each structure symbolizes the modernization of medical
science in Kanazawa City, Ishikawa Prefecture, and the
wider Hokuriku region.

4 Modern Archaeological Sites in Kanazawa
University

Discussed next are the Modern Archaeological Sites in
the campuses of Kanazawa University. Each campus has
its own distinct remains. The sites are the Kakuma Site
(Kakuma Iseki), which dates to Jomon period (14,000-500
BC) and to the Ancient (Kodai: 7th-12th Century)
period, the Takaramachi Site (Takaramachi Iseki),
Tsuruma Site (Tsuruma Iseki), and Higashi Kenroku
Site (Higashi Kenroku Iseki), each comprising remains
from the Early-Modern and Modern period (Kanazawa
University Museum and Center for Archaeological
Research, Kanazawa University, 2022; Center for
Archaeological Research, Kanazawa University, 2017,
2021). Of these, the Takaramachi and Tsuruma Sites
have garnered particular interest for their rare Modern
Archaeological Sites (Figure 7).
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4. (1) Takaramachi Site

The Takaramachi Site corresponds to the whole of
Takaramachi Campus. During the Early-Modern period,
the site formed the southeastern end of Kanazawa
Jokamachi (Kanazawa castle-town) and consisted of
the Yorikimachi and temple district of the Kaga domain
period. As such, the area has attracted considerable
archaeological interest, with 20 archaeological surveys
being conducted between 1998 and 2021 (a total survey
area of 23,446 square meters). These surveys have
unearthed numerous structures and artifacts from the
Early-Modern period.

If these discoveries were not sufficiently impressive
in themselves, then the sites of the previously discussed
medical school and hospital that operated here since
the Meiji era have yielded a veritable treasure trove
of Modern-period structures and artifacts. Many of
the archaeological discoveries to date are related to
the hospital. These include part of the foundations of
the brick edifice that housed , Ishikawa Prefectural
Kanazawa Hospital, which dates back to 1905 (Figure
8); tableware used in the hospital over successive
generations (Figure 9); and a glass bottles used to store
medicine. Every time a new survey is conducted, more
such items are discovered.

The unearthed foundations of the brick structure can
be collated with block plans now held in the Kanazawa
University Museum. Examples include the Block Plan
for New Construction of Ishikawa Prefectural Kanazawa
Hospital (Ishikawa-ken Kanazawa Byoin Shinchiku
Haichi Zu), the Block Layout Plan for the Kanazawa
Medical College and Affiliated Hospital (Kanazawa
Daigaku Igaku-bu Fuzoku Byoin Heimen Haichi Zu).
Similar block layout plans (in this case, for school
buildings) can be found in the Kanazawa Daigaku
Igaku-bu Hyakunen Shi [Hundred-Year Chronicle of
the Kanazawa University School of Medical Sciences]
(Committee for Editing the Hundred-Year Chronicle of
the Kanazawa University School of Medical Sciences,
1972). The structure is thus valuable in offering physical
evidence corroborating that there was indeed such
a Modern-period hospital on the site as indicated in
the documentation, whereas before we had only the
documentary evidence.

The tableware, glass bottles, and some other items
bear the name of the institution at the time (for
example, “Kanazawa Hospital,” “Kanazawa Medical
College,” “Kanazawa Medical College Affiliated Hospital,”
“Kanazawa University,” and “Kanazawa University
Hospital”). These tags make the artifacts all the more
archaeologically interesting in that they make it easier to
trace the evolution of Kanazawa University.
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The structures and artifacts of the Takaramachi Site
strikingly testify to the Modernization Heritage of the
Takaramachi Campus and to the modernization of
medical science, making them valuable both historically
and culturally.

4. (2) Tsuruma Site

Tsuruma Site corresponds to the Tsuruma Campus and,
like Takaramachi Site, it is known as a Early-Modern-
period site of the southeast end of Kanazawa Jokamachi.
During the Early-Modern (Kinsei: 1568-1867) period,
it served as a residential complex for the domain’s foot
soldiers (ashigaru). The site was surveyed three times
between 1998 and 2001 (total survey area of 6,239
square meters). Unsurprisingly, these surveys yielded
numerous structures and artifacts from the Early-Modern
period.

However, the Tsuruma Site is even more valuable as a
Modern Archaeological site than it is as an Early-Modern
one. The reason is that the site has yielded structures
and artifacts of the Kanazawa Prison (Kanazawa
Kangoku: later known as Kanazawa Keimusho), one of
the five great prisons of the Meiji era (the others being
the prisons of Chiba, Nara, Nagasaki, and Kagoshima).

The Tsuruma area became a campus of Kanazawa
University in 1976. Before then, the site was used by
Kanazawa Prison. Built in 1907, Kanazawa Prison was
originally known in Japanese as Kanazawa Kangoku, but
it became known as Kanazawa Keimusho following the
prison reform of 1922 (prisons in Japan today are known
as keimusho, while kangoku has become an obsolete
term). The area remained prison land until 1970, when
the prison was relocated to Tagamimachi. Structural
remains and artifacts of the prison lay buried in the soil
of Tsuruma Campus. The unearthed structures consist
of the foundations of five cellblocks fanning out from a
central control area (Figure 10) and those of a workshop.
The artifacts include tableware, some tagged with the
character for “kan” (shorthand for kangoku), and others
tagged with the character for “kei” (shorthand for
keimusho; Figure 11).

While the entrance, central control area, and cellblock
edifices have since been relocated to Museum Meiji-
Mura in Inuyama City, Aichi Prefecture, the unearthed
structures of Tsuruma Site give precise locational
information. Similarly, the unearthed artifacts provide
direct physical evidence shedding light on life inside the
prison.

The construction of Kanazawa Prison was, in the first
place, a product of the modernization of Japan’s justice
system during the Meiji era. The fact that its structure
and artifacts have been preserved on the campus is a
rare and valuable phenomenon.



To summarize, in this section I introduced Modern
Archaeological Sites in Kanazawa University. One
was the Takaramachi Site (on Takaramachi Campus),
which contains vestiges of a Modern-period hospital
and medical school. The other was Tsuruma Site (on
Tsuruma Campus), which contains vestiges of a Modern-
period prison. These sites are value in that they offer
insights into the modernization of medical science and
justice in Kanazawa, Ishikawa, and Hokuriku.

5 Evaluation, Outlook

In the previous sections, I introduced Kanazawa
University’s Modernization Heritage: the School of
Medical Science’s Former Book Storage, its Anatomical
Specimen Storehouse, its Pathological Specimen
Storehouse, and its Brick Wall and Gateposts. I also
introduced the university’s Modern Archaeological Sites:
Takaramachi Site and Tsuruma Site.

Each of these constitutes valuable heritage left by
people who lived in Kanazawa in the Modern period.
In particular, the Modernization Heritage and Modern
Archaeological Site in Takaramachi Campus symbolize
the modernization of medical science in Kanazawa, while
the Modern Archaeological Site in Tsuruma Campus
symbolizes the modernization of the justice system.

Few other universities in Japan could claim to hold
within their grounds such an array of Modernization
Heritage and Modern Archaeological Sites. Kanazawa
University was once famed as “the university in
the castle.” Now as the “university that conserves
Modernization Heritage,” Kanazawa University should
continue maintaining the exterior appearance of each
heritage building and ensure that the cultural properties
associated with them can be accessed and utilized
broadly.

This could include, for example, periodic maintenance
of the Modernization Heritage and periodic events such
as tours and themed exhibitions. We will continue to
explore ideas with the feedback and support of people
inside and outside the university.

I would like to acknowledge the individuals who
contributed to this article. In particular, I wish to thank
YAMAGISHI Tsuneto (Professor Emeritus at Kyoto
University) for sharing his architectural perspective of
the Modernization Heritage. I would also like to thank
YAMAGISHI Masako, ADACHI Takuro, SHINODA
Takayuki, KURACHI Makoto, and other members of
the Takaramachi Cultural Properties Project for offering
valuable feedback and support concerning Modernization
Heritage on Takaramachi Campus.
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